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Oak Ridge Municipal Building

The Monument was designed and produced by the Oak Ridge Heritage and Preservation Association and the City of Oak Ridge. Funding for the project was made possible by the City of Oak Ridge and the Preserve America Grant Program, National Park Service.
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	THE BIRTH OF THE CITY OF OAK RIDGE, TENNESSEE

Transformation of the Citizenry
In wartime 1943, realizing that unhappiness with living conditions would im​peril the already fragile prognosis for producing uranium-235, the Army over​seers of Oak Ridge strove to make life as pleasant as possible for the uprooted professionals sent here to work. They created a town where housing, though temporary, was decent and less costly than back home; schools and medical services were as good; and the "Secret City" culture was attractive.  After the war, the new civilian government owner, the Atomic Energy Commission (AEC), was faced with reducing the cost of all services, then far higher than in other cities this size. In 1948, the AEC embarked on an ambitious program to make a "normal," permanent city out of the 5-year-old temporary one that had always been anything but normal. The job entailed not only spending tens of millions of dollars to replace temporary housing, schools, hospital, and municipal services with permanent facilities, but also turning around the attitudes of the citizenry who loved the way the city had been with all its many excellent, well-subsidized services. During the next four years, millions of dollars were invested into building impressive new housing and permanent schools. Despite that, a referendum on incorporation in 1953 was heavily defeated. Then in 1955, Congress passed a law enabling the sale of all the houses. As house sales turned renters into homeowners now interested in landscaping, streetlights, and sewer systems, attitudes began to change. By the end of the decade, home sales were complete, and Oak Ridgers' love affair with their government-run city was over. In a referendum held May 5, 1959, citizens voted 14 to 1 in favor of taking over, operating, and paying for their own City. The official transfers and "Independence Day" took place on June 1, 1960. The transformation had taken 13 years.

This first marker was produced, in part, with funding from the City of Oak Ridge and the Preserve America Grant Program, National Park Service.


	THE BIRTH OF THE CITY OF OAK RIDGE, TENNESSEE

Transformation of the Housing
What most branded Oak Ridge as a temporary wartime community was its housing, almost half of which was added in a great rush during 1944-1945 as the town grew to five times the originally planned population of 13,000.  Many thousands of the later housing units were prefabricated "flattops," trailers, and hutments. Soon after the war, the Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) went to work to transform the "Secret City" by replacing those temporary units with permanent homes. The AEC constructed the new Woodland community with 820 housing units, the Garden Apartments with 450 units, and 280 duplexes and dormitories at Gamble Valley. Next, 350 Brick Apartments and 100 row houses were built as a buffer between Woodland and the new town center shopping mall. Some 1,200 temporary dwelling units were renovated and upgraded to last 20 or more years.Despite the welcomed improvements, a 1953 vote on incorporation was heavily defeated, but the AEC was undeterred. The remaining flattops were rehabilitated, adding gable roofs and skirts around their foundations. In East Village 500 new houses replaced all the flattops there, and 400 ranch homes were built in West Village. When Congress passed the Atomic Energy Community Act of 1955, major programs to upgrade and maintain homes that had been underway since 1948 were halted. Sales of properties began in 1956, and when tenants were offered the chance to buy their rental homes at a discount, they quickly agreed. By June 1958, all but three of Oak Ridge's 3,526 single-family units had been sold along with 1,280 other proper​ties. The inventory of housing when the AEC took over in 1947 was 9,777 units. By 1960, 5,200 of them remained plus 8,442 new additions, totaling 13,642. The AEC had spent $295 million (in 2010 dollars) to build housing to create a community with a future.

This second marker was produced, in part, with funding from the City of 
Oak Ridge and the Preserve America Grant Program, National Park 
Service.


	THE BIRTH OF THE CITY OF OAK RIDGE, TENNESSEE

Transformation of Education and Health
At the same time the Government was starting large construction programs in 1948 to build permanent housing, work started to replace the hurriedly built wartime schools. The first permanent school finished was Willowbrook Elementary in September 1949. Next to be finished was Woodland Elementary in the fall of 1950, but so many people moved into Woodland that an addition was required, finished in 1953. The most costly of all school additions ($2.9 million) was the new High School, located west of its original Jackson Square home to better serve the center of the future City. Jefferson Junior High moved into the old High School above Jackson Square. Major new additions and renovations were made to Robertsville Junior High by 1954. Those four new schools represented a $6 million investment in providing for the future outstanding school system. Providing for the City's future health care was another major concern. In April 1949, just a month after the City's gates were opened, the govern​ment turned the management of the Hospital over to a not-for-profit Oak Ridge Hospital, Inc., and then, to help fight deficits, changed the rules to allow them to accept patients from the surrounding counties. Midway through the next decade the Hospital Board argued that the wartime, wooden, sprawling facility had to be replaced, and Congress appropriated money for a new 175-bed facility. The issue then became to whom this fine new Hospital should be given: to the new City, to those who had been running it, or to a new suitor, the Methodist Church. A spirited referendum saw the vote almost evenly divided, so a second was held and the Methodist Church won. Although they took over management in March 1959, both the Hospital and the Schools reported to the Atomic Energy Commission until all property transfers to the new City were finally executed in June 1960.

This third marker was produced, in part, with funding from the City 
of Oak Ridge and the Preserve America Grant Program, National 
Park Service.



THE BIRTH OF THE CITY OF OAK RIDGE, TENNESSEE

Transformation of Municipal Services
In 1948, the Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) assigned the task of transform​ing the "Secret City" into an incorporated city to Frederick W. "Fred" Ford, the AEC's new Community Affairs Director. In addition to managing the city's day-to-day operations, Fred was responsible for the "steps involved in the eventual transfer of Oak Ridge from a government-owned to a normal, self-governed municipality." To develop a Master Plan he contracted with the Corps of Engi​neers, Skidmore, Owings & Merrill, and the Tennessee Valley Authority. Over the next 12 years, he and his staff sponsored 48 consulting contracts for planning the various municipal services and functions of the future city. In 1948, the utility departments initiated programs to annually upgrade the wartime electrical, water, and sewer systems. Street lighting, automatic fire-alarm circuits, and sprinkler systems for major buildings were installed. Gas and heating oil were brought in to eliminate the sooty, soft-coal inversion layers that hung over the town on winter mornings. Despite some protests from renters, water and electric meters were installed in each home. Perhaps most welcome to residents tired of all the mud, were the annual improvements of paving and widening the streets and roads, and adding curbs, gutters, and sidewalks. The first new road project, in 1950, called for by the Master Plan was Lafayette Drive, a divided highway linking the Turnpike and Kerr Hollow Road. The second was South Illinois Avenue connecting the Turnpike to Scarboro Road. The third and fourth were new Tulane and Rutgers Avenues. In 1958, the AEC completed its last building project—the Municipal Building, to house all new city departments. 

These farsighted actions spanning 13 years provided the municipal services that together with new housing, schools, and the hospital, paved the way for the new City of Oak Ridge.

This fourth marker was produced, in part, with funding from the City of Oak Ridge and the Preserve America Grant Program, National Park Service.
